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If you can finde out a key whereby to picke this locke, you are able to reade any thinge.

—Letter from Richard Lawrence to code breaker John Wallis, 1657








Timeline

1660: Henry Avery—sailor, trader, and pirate king—is born around Bideford and Plymouth, Devon.

1660: Daniel Foe, tradesman and author, is born in the parish of St Giles, Cripplegate, London.

December 1684: Dr. Thomas Tenison, the future archbishop of Canterbury, opens London’s first public library (and secret spy factory) in St Martin-in-the-Fields.

July 6, 1685: Defeat of James Scott, the Duke of Monmouth, in the Battle of Sedgemoor, Somerset, while attacking King James II. Daniel Foe, one of his fighters, flees into exile.

April 11, 1689: Dutchman William of Orange and Mary (eldest daughter of King James II) are crowned king and queen of England.

1692: Daniel Foe hunts off the Lizard, Cornwall, for sunken treasure with Joseph Williams, inventor of a diving engine.

1692: Daniel Foe starts working in intelligence for King William III of England.

Summer 1693: Henry Avery signs onto the Spanish Shipping Expedition to fish wrecked treasure in the Americas and sails into La Coruna, northern Spain, as chief mate of the Dove.

May 7, 1694: Henry Avery seizes the Charles II English frigate in La Coruna, renames it the Fancy, and turns to piracy.

August 1694: Nicholas Trott is appointed governor of New Providence, the Bahamas.

1694: A Copy of Verses Composed by Captain Henry Every, Lately Gone to Sea to Seek His Fortune is published, supposedly written by the pirate king.

1695: Daniel Foe changes his surname to the fancier-sounding Defoe.

Summer 1695: The Fancy takes on supplies at Madagascar; the ship’s hull is cleaned of barnacles.

September 1695: In the Indian Ocean, Henry Avery captures the Fateh Muhammed, owned by Abdul Ghafur of Surat, India’s wealthiest merchant.

September 8, 1695: In the Indian Ocean, Henry Avery seizes the Mughal emperor’s Ganj-i Sawai (Gunsway in English), the greatest pirate treasure ever taken.

September 1695: Samuel Annesley, president of the East India Company’s council in Surat, India, and his workers are locked into their factory in revenge for the English plundering the Gunsway.

February 1696: English spies foil a plot to assassinate King William III on the outskirts of London when returning from hunting.

April 1, 1696: The Fancy pirate ship arrives off New Providence, the Bahamas; Henry Avery changes his name to Henry Bridgeman.

June 1696: Two sloops, with part of the Fancy’s pirate crew, land in Dunfanaghy, northern Ireland, and Westport in western Ireland.

July 17, 1696: King William III issues a Proclamation for Apprehending Pirate Every.

July 22, 1696: The East India Company publishes The Companyes Declaration for Apprehending Every & His Ship.

September 1696: William Kidd arrives in the Americas on the Adventure Galley to hunt pirates, only to turn pirate himself.

October 1696: Trial of six of Henry Avery’s pirate crew at the Old Bailey, London.

November 25, 1696: Five men from the Fancy’s pirate crew are hanged at Execution Dock, Wapping.

Late 1696: Publication of the ballad Villany Rewarded; or, the Pirates Last Farewel to the World.

February 1697: John Tyzack gets permission from the Lord Commissioners of the Treasury to search Cornwall for Henry Avery and his pirates’ buried treasure.

February 1697: The Lords of the Admiralty send warships to the East Indies and Madagascar in search of the pirate king.

December 1698: A royal pardon is offered to all pirates of the Caribbean—except for Henry Avery.

1700: Robert Davis, Defoe’s brother-in-law, invents a new dive engine. Off Bumble Rock, Cornwall, they salvage silver bars from a sunken wreck.

December 27, 1700: “Avery the Pirate” writes a letter from Falmouth, Cornwall, in secret code to the Reverend James Richardson at the library on Orange Street, St Martin-in-the-Fields, London.

February 21, 1702: King William III falls off his horse at Hampton Court and dies.

1702: Cornelius Ffurssen searches for the pirate treasure of the Fancy in Cornwall.

March 8, 1702: Queen Anne becomes ruler of England.

December 1702: Daniel Defoe publishes The Shortest Way with the Dissenters and is accused of seditious libel. At the Old Bailey, he is fined and sentenced to three days in the stocks.

Late 1703: Daniel Defoe starts spying for Secretary of State Robert Harley and Queen Anne.

September 1706: Defoe and his spies head to Edinburgh to stop Scotland breaking away from the union with England.

May 1, 1707: The Act of Union becomes law. Scotland and England are “United into One Kingdom by the Name of Great Britain.”

1708: Some Memoirs Concerning That Famous Pyrate Capt. Avery are published.

1709: Adrian van Broeck publishes The Life and Adventures of Capt. John Avery.

November 1712: Charles Johnson’s play about the pirate king Henry Avery, The Successful Pyrate, opens at the Theatre Royal, Drury Lane, London.

July 1713: Queen Anne’s War ends after eleven years. Thousands of out-of-work sailors and privateers turn to piracy in the Americas. New Providence, the Bahamas, becomes a notorious pirates republic.

January 1717–November 1718: A “Mr. Ivery” (Avery?) turns up spying in Dunkirk, northern France.

July 1718: Woodes Rogers arrives in New Providence, the Bahamas, to crush the pirates.

1719: John Avery’s supposed autobiographical The King of Pirates: Being an Account of the Famous Enterprises of Captain Avery, the Mock King of Madagascar is published.

1720: Daniel Defoe publishes The Life, Adventures and Piracies of the Famous Captain Singleton, based on the life of Henry Avery.

1724: A General History of the Pyrates by Captain Charles Johnson is published, the first pirate bestseller.

April 26, 1731: Daniel Defoe dies in London while hiding from debt collectors.

1779: John Knill, mayor of St Ives in Cornwall, hunts for Henry Avery’s lost pirate treasure.

1978: Zélide Cowan discovers the “Avery the Pirate” letter in the Scottish Record Office in Edinburgh.

2021: Metal detectorists in Rhode Island discover silver coins from Yemen and claim they come from Henry Avery’s raid on the Gunsway.






Preface

Mayhem, mavericks, rollicking humor. Everyone loves pirates, those rogues who gave us Captain Hook in Peter Pan, Long John Silver in Treasure Island, the Princess Bride’s Dread Pirate Roberts, and, the biggest star of all, Captain Jack Sparrow. The $4.5 billion Pirates of the Caribbean franchise is an entertainment industry in its own right, from much-cherished movies to rides and spectacles at Disneyland.

Ask almost anyone and they’ll tell you it all began with Edward “Blackbeard” Thatch, “Calico” Jack Rackham, “Black Sam” Bellamy, and pals in the Caribbean. Many people are even familiar with their sinful lair, the pirates’ republic on the island of New Providence in the Bahamas. There, so the most common take goes, the golden age of piracy began in August 1715 when ships full of desperadoes—mostly bitter Englishmen who lost their jobs as sailors at the end of Queen Anne’s War (1702–1713)—started looting the Spanish treasure fleet, and its fourteen million pieces of eight, sunk in a hurricane off eastern Florida. Flush with success and the taste of easy cash, the pirates of the Caribbean were born.1

It’s a terrific story, and those colorful characters from Blackbeard to Mary Read really did bring mayhem to the high seas. Yet none of it actually began with this cast in 1715. Twenty years earlier, it was another man who lit the fuse and hurled the hand grenade that kick-started the golden age of piracy. Henry Avery was an angry young man who had been messed with one too many times.2 In May 1694 he stole an English frigate in the port of La Coruna in northern Spain, renamed it the Fancy, and headed east.

Not to the Americas. As glittering as they were, the richest plunder in the world was not stowed on Spanish galleons but in the holds of Mughal ships trading between the western Indian port of Surat and Jeddah and Mocha on the Red Sea shores of Saudi Arabia and Yemen. Avery knew what he was doing: Aurangzeb, the emperor of India, was the richest man in the world, his country the wealthiest on earth.

In the fall of 1695, Avery waited at the southern foot of the Red Sea for the Indies’ fleet to pass and drop into his clutches. That September he attacked the Ganj-i-Sawai (Gunsway in English, meaning “exceeding treasure”) and helped himself to anywhere between £325,000 and a cool £600,000 of treasure worth a high of $149 million today.3 The most accurate figure of “fifty-two lakhs of rupees in silver and gold” rounds out to about $108 million.4 Overnight, Avery was celebrated as the arch-pirate and, most famously, the pirate king. After dividing his spoils among his crew and scattering from the island of New Providence, Avery vanished into thin air to enjoy his ill-gotten loot with his head intact.

The romance surrounding Henry Avery is the mother of all pirate mysteries. What really happened to him? More ballads, pamphlets, and books were written about Avery than any other pirate of the golden age. Some swore he went to ground on the island of Madagascar in East Africa, where he founded a democratic colony for misfits and outsiders, called Libertalia—the original land of the free—that became the political template for the Enlightenment in Europe.5 Others reckoned he laid low in the hills above southern France, knocking back fine wine. Or maybe he ran off to Dublin, Plymouth, London (in search of his wife), or Scotland (with his quartermaster’s wife), or was cheated out of his riches in Bristol?

Only one thing is certain. In the summer of 1696, the pirate king became a ghost. “Avery was never heard from again,”6 Colin Woodard wrote. “Henry Every, the Arch-Pirate, had disappeared behind the smokescreen of false leads that he had fed his gullible men. He was never seen or heard from again,” Frank Sherry agreed.7 Or so Steven Johnson concluded, “The fog around the birth of that Devonshire sailor is almost as thick as the one that surrounds his death… he became a ghost.”8 The missing case of Henry Avery the pirate king has been the most puzzling cold case in pirate history for 327 years. Until now.

On a cold day in 1978, the historian Zélide Cowan was scouring an archive in Scotland for nuggets of information about a Swedish East Indiaman sunk off a tiny island in Orkney. The trawl was not going well when she stumbled across an old letter. It had been misfiled. It shouldn’t have been there. As soon as she read its title, penned by “Avery the Pirate” in December 1700, Zélide knew she had stumbled across a once-in-a-lifetime historical treasure. The four pages were written four years after Henry Avery supposedly disappeared. In one stunning document, the pirate king was back from the dead.

For the next decade, Zélide and her wreck-hunting husband, Rex Cowan, tried to make sense of the letter. They visited archive after archive and sent letters to experts. Who wrote the letter, in which town, and where it was heading were clear as day. The great mystery was the content. Why were the lines written in a numeric code? What did they say?

Soon, the next big shipwreck discovery came along needing their total attention. Life left Avery languishing in a dusty file until December 2020, when Sean Kingsley visited Rex in London. Sean was working on a special issue of Wreckwatch magazine about pirates. Did Rex know anything about those lovable sea rogues? he innocently asked. Rex, a walking encyclopedia, did and he remembered the excitement of the mysterious letter discovered all those years ago. One chance meeting rolled back the years. Cowan and Kingsley resolved to crack the enigma of the “Avery the Pirate” letter once and for all.

The amazing history that we can now reveal in The Pirate King in many ways beggars belief. The web of coincidences is incredible. The letter from 1700 links three of the greatest characters of the age in England by tying Henry Avery to Daniel Defoe, author of Robinson Crusoe, and Dr. Thomas Tenison, the archbishop of Canterbury. The following pages are the tale of a lifelong friendship between the man who wrote the first novel, the greatest pirate of them all, the highest churchman in the land, and their unholy alliance to do whatever it took to protect their country from conspiracies and invasions.

You could not make it up. Sometimes truth is stranger than fiction. Take Defoe. To most he is a great author, pure and simple. But writing was just a way to make money. His life’s work was much more serious and darker. What you saw with Defoe was a carefully crafted smoke screen. Daniel published The Life and Strange Surprising Adventures of Robinson Crusoe as a “true story,” as autobiography. It was no such thing—it was a literary hoax. Yet among its exciting pages lurks more than a kernel of truth. The character of Robinson Crusoe was based on the life of Scotsman Alexander Selkirk, who robbed Spanish ships with privateers—legalized pirates—off South America before being castaway on a desert island in the eastern Pacific Ocean after mutinying.9

Four and half years later, Selkirk was saved by a ship piloted by William Dampier and captained by Woodes Rogers. In a remarkable web of coincidence and fate, in real life Dampier was a crew member of the same Spanish Shipping Expedition as Avery when he turned pirate in Spain in 1694;10 Defoe was a lifelong friend of Avery, the Robin Hood of the sea who would become the pirate king; and Rogers ended up the pirate hunter who crushed the golden age of piracy as the governor of New Providence in the Bahamas.

Today, Defoe’s Robinson Crusoe is appreciated for the real history underpinning it. In his association with Henry Avery the pirate king, so we have discovered, Defoe had extremely good cause—even a necessity—to cover his tracks and hide his actions. “Lie Like the truth,” the brilliant author once wrote. The Pirate King could equally be subtitled, taking a leaf out of Robinson Crusoe, as The Strange Surprising Adventures of Henry Avery. Both characters made an art of lying and subverting. As needs be, Henry Avery would call himself Captain John, Henry Bridgman, Long Ben, and Johnson. Defoe, who was actually born plain Foe, used even more aliases, most frequently Claude Guilot and Alexander Goldsmith.11

As well as revealing the sequel of how Avery survived and what he did next after pulling off the richest heist on the high seas, The Pirate King digs into his psyche, as well as Defoe’s. The pirate king has been misunderstood for centuries. He was not the brainless thug, an “overgrown Thief” and “Royal Out-law”12 who stole the Charles II to become a pirate out of crazed greed. He was not just a man with a “Temper on Fire”13 with a “mortal hatred”14 against his whole nation, bent on breeding “Faction in Hell.”15 The pirate king who emerges from this book is a highly complicated human whose “good Genius” was “superior to his evil.”16 The human reasons behind his piracy can be tracked back to the unforgettable trauma of his youth.

“How strange a checker-work of Providence is the life of man!” Daniel Defoe wrote in Robinson Crusoe.17 The Pirate King mixes historical reality with best-fit literary reconstructions, using quotes said to have been spouted or written by the main characters, to expose three strange lives breathed in fascinatingly changing times when the world was opening up and becoming modern.

—Sean Kingsley, Virginia Water, and Rex Cowan, London






THE PIRATE KING






PART ONE






Dusty Treasure

The house lay in chaos. Boxes were stacked against every wall, nook, and cranny. Rex Cowan was downsizing. Zélide and Rex had lived in the leafy Hampstead suburb of north London for over fifty years. There they brought up three children and circled the world in search of lost ships and treasured cargoes. It was not just brick and mortar. The home held a lifetime of memories.

Early in his career, Rex, a lawyer by training, had cashed in his Mercedes for a rickety research boat and turned wreck hunter. Zélide did the historical research; Rex searched the high seas. Together they were a slick team that successfully tracked down some of the world’s most iconic sunken Dutch East India Company traders. The Netherlands knighted Rex for his services to underwater exploration. Now it was all ending. The books, research files, and articles Rex had religiously kept and curated in the pre-internet age had to go.

Sean Kingsley was standing on creaking floorboards on the second floor of Rex’s town house. Sean and Rex went way back. Both were wreck hunters who could talk rotten wood, coins, and pottery till the cows came home. Kingsley was in his early fifties, Cowan coming up to the ripe old age of ninety-four. In many ways they were cut from the same cloth. Both Londoners, a son and a grandson of Jewish parents and grandparents who fought to give their families a new start in England after Adolf Hitler ransacked Europe.

Sean scratched his stubble and sighed. It was December 2020, and he had promised to store and save some of Zélide’s stardust research. Somewhere in hundreds of cardboard boxes was her masterpiece, a finished manuscript on the history of early divers. Rex had narrowed the hunt down to fourteen boxes. Sean had promised to scour them for Zélide’s magnum opus and see it published under her name.

After piling his Jeep high with Rex’s paper treasure and taking it home after his last trip to town, Sean brought bad news. The boxes were full of fascinating nuggets of ships and cargoes lost off Cape Verde, the Florida Keys, and beyond, and letters written to and from the pioneers of deep-sea exploration. Inspiring stuff. But no diving manuscript.

“Well, where the bloody hell is it?” Rex had mused.

While Rex mumbled and grumbled, Sean’s mind drifted far off to the Caribbean. As the editor-in-chief of Wreckwatch magazine, he was deep into preparing a special issue on pirates—Captain Kidd, Blackbeard, and their life and times. Rex was a walking encyclopedia. It was worth a punt. Sean steered the conversation in a new direction.

“Tell me, Rex, I don’t expect you know anything about pirates, do you?” he had innocently asked.

Rex’s crestfallen face lit up. His eyes sparkled and a mischievous grin spread across his lips. “Pirates—and how. Wait here. Don’t move a muscle,” he ordered.

And he was off, rolling back the years as he hurtled upstairs. After a few minutes of crashing and banging, a dust-covered Rex returned beaming. Three thick, faded brown folders were tucked under his arm.

“Here, take them,” he insisted.

Over tomato soup, Rex broke bread and began sharing an astonishing tale. A tale of discovery, danger, and strange surprises that he had not spoken about for thirty-two long years.



On a windy day in the summer of 1978 in the Scottish Record Office in Edinburgh, Zélide Cowan had come across the most curious document she had ever seen. And she had seen it all. Few languages foiled her all-seeing eye. Apart from the lines spread out in front of her.

The problem was not the script, which was as clear as the day the letter was drafted. The letter’s title said it all: “Copy. Letter from Avery the Pirate. 27:/ Dec.r 10.1700.”1 Zélide, an expert in maritime history, knew that Henry Avery, the greatest pirate of the golden age, vanished in 1696 and was never seen again. It was pirate history’s longest cold case. Avery, the man who lit the fuse and flung the grenade that started the golden age of piracy. He was the enemy of all mankind who seized the richest loot on the high seas off India and escaped with the Mughal emperor’s treasures. And then disappeared into thin air.

The letter lying flat in front of Zélide changed everything. If their contents were true, the pirate was not just alive and kicking four years after disappearing, he had swapped one undercover lifestyle for another.

The problem Zélide had reading the Avery the Pirate letter was that it was written in code. Avery was replying to an earlier letter he received on December 10, 1700, and confirming that he was setting off on a mission. He awaited instructions and would report back imminently. Avery signed off with the alias “Whilest 2.” Two lines written lengthwise down the left side of the first page signposted where a reply should be addressed: “Direct for me to be left at the posthouse in Falmouth,” a coastal town in Cornwall. The most peculiar of historic letters was addressed to “The Reverend Mr. James Richardson att the Liberary over against Orenge Street, St. Martins in ye. Fields, London.”

To the Avery letter’s tantalizing lines, whoever had made this copy added a note once annexed to the original: a list of gleaming treasure that the pirate king dragged home as his slice of the loot seized from the Mughal emperor’s ship the Ganj-i-Sawai (Gunsway in English). Ganj-i-Sawai meant “exceeding treasure,” and the plunder beggared belief—a chest full of rubies, sapphires, emeralds, diamonds and, in a second crate, 120 gold ingots.

Zélide’s brain was scrambled as she headed out of the archive that day. She needed a good few gin and tonics to settle her nerves. She had traveled to Edinburgh in search of historical nuggets about a sunken Swedish shipwreck, the Svecia, that she and Rex had found off the coast of Scotland. The armed merchant ship hit the rocks between the Orkneys and Fair Isle in the summer of 1740, returning from Bengal laden with dyewood, saltpeter, silk, and a supposed £250,000 in treasure. Instead of cracking the Svecia’s backstory, Zélide was heading home to London having discovered a completely different dusty treasure.

When they were not digging up sunken wonders, Rex and Zélide spent the next decade chasing shadows. They delved into archives from Cornwall to London. Old maps confirmed that the capital’s first public lending library was opened on Orange Street in 1684, where the Avery letter was addressed to. More documents proved that a Mr. James Richardson truly was its librarian as well the head teacher at the annexed Archbishop Tenison’s Grammar School.

Rex lost many nights’ sleep trying to slot the elusive pieces of the puzzle together. This much he knew: Henry Avery the pirate king was alive and kicking in December 1700. He seemed to be in hiding, writing in code. The library on Orange Street in London, set up by Dr. Thomas Tenison, the future archbishop of Canterbury, was the real deal. The letter’s contents stacked up.

In 2020 Rex’s hunger to unravel the truth behind the letter burnt as brightly as in 1978. For himself. For the memory of Zélide, now sadly departed. For history. Rex hoarded his research. It was priceless to him. He had curated the pirate king archive for over forty years. It was time to pass his dusty treasure down the line.

Now the mystery was Sean’s problem.



In December 2020 the world was locked down. The biblical scourge of COVID-19 gripped the planet. Travel was banned in England. Christmas was cancelled. No matter. Sean Kingsley had his own special present. Instead of family cheer, hearty turkey, and cheesy cracker jokes, he retreated to his study on the edge of Windsor Great Park and started a forensic examination of the Avery files Rex Cowan had entrusted him with.

First things first. Was the eyebrow-raising letter true pirate gold or forged? Past scammers went to great lengths to fake and sell documents, especially when it came to inventing treasure hunts and selling them to starry-eyed romantics to make a fast buck. The dusty files showed how between 1978 and 1987 Rex and Zélide had made a deep dive into a web of archives. They ended up convinced of the letter’s authenticity.

Sean felt pulled in two directions. The master letter had all the hallmarks of being authentic. No average person knew how to write in code, whose dark mysteries were familiar only to a select group. But the list of treasure tacked to a second sheet of paper felt somehow like a Disney caricature, too good to be true.

As Sean worked his way through a decade of research scribbled down in pen and pencil over forty years ago, thrill replaced skepticism. In the British Library, Rex and Zélide had dug up a manuscript that confirmed Tenison really did sponsor a school with a fine library attached off Orange Street. The library was so obscure that no scammer would know to address a bogus letter there.

Then there was the question of how the letter found its way into the Scottish archives and the mystery of who made the copy and why. Sean’s discussions with the National Records of Scotland found out that the letter was part of an archive ranging in date from 1497 to 1897 donated by Scotland’s Hamilton-Bruce family of Grange Hill and Falkland. Sean was working on the Avery letter from a photocopy taken by Zélide in 1978. A closer look at the original spotted a watermark in the margin reading “C. Ansell 1806.” So, the mystery of when the letter was copied was solved. But who made the copy?

One family member of the Hamilton-Bruces jumped out as an obvious candidate who had all the right reasons to copy the Avery the Pirate letter. Professor John Bruce, born in 1745, was a serious man. The professor of logic in Edinburgh from 1778 was also a founding member of the Royal Society of Edinburgh.2 His only happy place, though, so colleagues joked, was “buried in old records.”3 Bruce got his wish, being appointed keeper of the state papers held in the Palace of Whitehall as well as becoming the official historian to the East India Company from 1793 to 1817.4 The dates when the pirate letter was copied and Bruce’s dream job added up perfectly.

Bruce would never have been duped into copying, filing, and carefully keeping a faked document. He had access to unseen archival material, much of which he kept private, and every likelihood of stumbling across the Avery letter. And the good professor had a vested interest in the pirate king as well. Bruce was a strong supporter of justifying England and the East India Company’s trading monopoly in India. He knew all about Henry Avery and the damage he caused East-West commerce. In his three-volume Annals of the East India Company, Bruce regretted that “notwithstanding the most diligent search, Captain Avery has not yet been discovered.”5 The scholar had done his darndest to track down the pirate and had failed.

All the evidence convinced Sean, like Rex and Zélide, that the Avery letter was genuine. Big mysteries remained, however. What was Avery doing in Cornwall in December 1700? Who was he meeting? Why was he writing in code? And what business did Archbishop Tenison and London librarian James Richardson have being caught in the middle of secret communications? To answer these mysteries, Sean and Rex would have to rewind time to where it all started, in the second half of the seventeenth century, then build up a forensic picture, block by block, of how the legend of the pirate king was born and set the world alight.






Disinherited

The sea was in young Henry Avery’s blood. He was brought up around the docks and decks of wooden ships in the ports of Bideford and Plymouth in Devon.1 After breaking his back for several years in the service of the Crown, his father struck out on his own as a merchant and earned a reputation as a highly able seaman.

As the coin started to roll in, the Averys moved to a smart estate at Cattedown in Plymouth, a “Sort of an Eminence over-Looking an Arm of the Sea.”2 There, young Henry lived a short burst of life of great privilege. He had every reason to believe this was his natural station in society. Henry, watching intently his father’s way of dealing with people, had a short temper and little patience suffering fools. Even at school, “he gave Indications of such a daring and commanding Genius, as made some of his little School-Fellows very uneasy, and give in many Complaints against him, for his tyrannical Treatment.”3 Little could he know these were his golden years before a fall.

The boy spent his spare time traipsing around Plymouth’s cobbled lanes and exploring docks, breathing in deeply the stench of tar, sweat, and hops, oil, and fruit from dropped shipping crates. Weaving and the leather industry brought good livelihoods to many families, as did brewing beer for thirsty sailors, while fishing enjoyed a constant market. Henry watched enthralled merchants and heavily laden trading ships come and go between the West Indies, the American colonies, and the Mediterranean. He talked freely with old salts fixing sails and dockers rolling wooden barrels into warehouses.

Young Henry loved nothing more than hearing tales of old Plymouth in the happy times when his father was home between voyages. The town may have been small but, as England’s leading port, it had a big reputation. As Henry skipped to keep up with his father’s long strides, passed the steep rocky slope where the wrestling giants Corinaeus and Gogmagog were carved into the hillside hundreds of years before,4 Avery Senior pointed out the town’s highlights. There were the caves where humankind was born, full of ancient human bones said to be tens of thousands of years old.5

Young Henry peered starry-eyed at the slippery, brown seaweed-covered quay where Thomas Stukeley sailed to Florida and Sir Walter Raleigh left for Guyana. On the Hoe the legendary Sir Francis Drake, who had already navigated the known world, calmly finished a game of bowls before giving a bloody nose in 1588 to the biggest Spanish Armada to ever invade England—73 ships armed with 2,431 guns.6

Henry’s father shared with his son tales about how in 1606 King James I granted the Plymouth Company royal charters to settle on the North American coast known as “Virginia.”7 Henry eavesdropped when merchants whispered about the best way to embezzle cargo from enemy naval prizes towed into port. Crime—legal piracy—could pay big, he learned. Plymouth was a city for adventurers, and young Henry was desperate to join its ranks, to make his mark on the world.

Only fate had no intention of handing Henry Avery an easy ride. As the years passed, his dreams, his stability, were dashed. His mother died when he was six years old, his father when he was just eleven.8 Being orphaned and abandoned without the bosom of a family, love, and guidance was a sorry start to life that was about to get worse. Henry learned about the evil wiles of man before his voice broke.

With his father having passed over the bar, Henry’s welfare fell on the shoulders of Aunt Norris and Bartholomew Knowles, a merchant friend of the family. When the boy’s aunt died four years later, Avery, alone in the world, inherited a “competent Estate” worth £500 and with it “Grandeur and Wealth.”9 The sixteen-year-old boy was rich, but no gentleman. Bred to the waves, he went to sea as a cabin boy and swiftly rose up the ranks, showing an “uncommon Readiness in the Practice of Maritime Affairs.”10 Knowles, now his governor, watched the lad’s ease at sea and encouraged him to join the man-of-war the Resolution and its fleet headed to Algiers in North Africa to wipe out a pirates’ lair.11

Henry Avery had lots to learn. Blessed with “Extraordinary Vigor and Sprightliness,” he next signed onto the warship Nonsuch sent to the West Indies to protect English plantations from attacks by Spanish coastguards. These daring adventures “flush’d him with expectation of success in his Future Encounters and gave Additions to a Courage.”12

While Henry Avery was trying to be a hero, fighting enemies in foreign lands, Bartholomew Knowles sniffed a windfall and set in place “long projected evil designs.”13 New deeds to the Avery estate of Cattedown in Plymouth were forged thanks to an equally corrupt attorney while its master was away at sea. The schemer helped himself to the youth’s inheritance. By the time Henry Avery returned to Plymouth with great expectations, Knowles was dead, and his birthright vanished. Avery spent the last of his ship’s pay taking Knowles’s family to court and losing.14 He angrily accused “both Judge and Jury, and laid Partiality and Bribery to their Charge.”15 Young Henry could not even fall into the arms of his betrothed for comfort. The farmer’s daughter he fell in love with had run off with an innkeeper while he was attacking Algiers for king and country.16

Something snapped. Henry Avery, treated in a “scandalous and unjust Manner,”17 became a bubbling cauldron of fury with a “Temper on Fire.”18 He packed up his worldly goods and, “being bred to the Sea” from a youth,19 fled to London. Yet this nobody would always love his king and country. As for the corrupt and abusive people in positions of power and privilege, “he conceived a mortal hatred against the whole Nation, for the suppos’d injury of a few Persons.”20 The only escape, the only place he felt truly free to breathe, was on the high seas. Henry Avery would make something of his sorry life. The orphan and ruined estate lord swore that when the chance arose, he would “avenge himself upon his Country’s Enemies.”21

Avery would not be heard of for a few years. Reckless, carefree, and full of “Extraordinary Vigor and Sprightliness,”22 he commanded a fire ship in the Dutch War with dashing heroics and what sounds like a death wish.23 A fellow sailor remembered seeing him in battle, “all in Flames grapple the tall stour Hollander [Dutch ship]… the Showers of fatal Hail flew thick, and pierc’d our burning Canvas—Board and Board we lay, he was the first and last in Danger—We saw ’em both blow up, the dreadful Shock in a tumultuous Eddy whirl’d the Waves.”24

All the while, Avery bided his time with a leaden heart. He had “declared War upon Mankind, renounc’d the Rights he was born to as a Member of Society.”25 When he made his move to “breed Faction in Hell,”26 vengeance would be sweet.






The Outsider

Old England had little tolerance for anyone who was culturally or religiously different, “others,” whether that meant the color of one’s skin or god of choice. Long before he wrote Robinson Crusoe, became the world’s first great novelist, and had a hand in the eighteenth-century blockbuster A General History of the Pyrates,1 Daniel Defoe—or Foe, as he was born—spent most of his life a bag of nerves, hiding under a rock. The Foes came from a minority faith of old Puritans known as Dissenters.2 They were Protestants who refused to bow down to the beliefs of the Church of England. Snubbing the majority line put a target on Daniel Foe’s back, whether walking the streets, seeking an education, or looking for a job. The chip on his shoulder made him even more of an outsider than Henry Avery.

Daniel Foe was born in the bustling London parish of St Giles, Cripplegate, outside the northern city walls. He felt locked out all his life. The times were chaotic, unstable. In the year Foe was born, 1660,3 the Stuart monarchy was restored to the throne. The Puritans, Daniel’s family faith, were all washed up. A backlash was heading their way. These days of horrors that were unimaginable for an adult, let alone a small lad, felt like the end of the world was nigh. In 1665 the bubonic plague rode into town and killed more than seventy thousand Londoners. Almost eight thousand of Cripplegate’s population of twenty thousand were put in the ground. The city had not had the chance to catch its breath when in September 1666 the Great Fire burnt down two thirds of London and wiped the medieval city of wooden homes, shops, and warehouses off the map.4

Then, in June 1667, during the Second Anglo-Dutch War, panic and national humiliation swept the city. Dutch ships sailed up the River Medway, sank and captured several English warships, and escaped untouched.5 The gunfire crackled as far north as London. The heart of England was at risk of being pierced. Foe was seven years old and felt the cold sweat and fear enveloping London.

Daniel Foe was around ten years old when the one stable rock the boy relied on,6 the family fold, collapsed. The death of his mother, Alice, cast him adrift in a precarious world. With his father, James, away on business more often than not, Daniel was left to look after himself—sink or swim.

Life for Dissenters made escaping trouble impossible. The Foes had backed their pastor, Dr. Samuel Annesley, when he refused to obey the Church of England Act of Uniformity in 1662 and use the new Book of Common Prayer in church services. Two years later, more than five people were banned from worshipping together if they refused to use the official prayer book. The screws of terror and persecution against dissenting Protestants tightened in 1672. More than three thousand ministers left the church rather than accept the Act of Uniformity.7 Another eight thousand imprisoned Protestant Dissenters died in jail during the reign of King Charles II.8

Young Daniel spent his life peering over his shoulder at popery, the threat of Catholics seizing power. A Catholic king invading Britain from France or taking the throne by stealth, as James, the Duke of York and brother of King Charles II, threatened, petrified Dissenters. The minority into which Daniel Foe was born were a desperate people, harassed by severe laws and at the mercy of bullies and informers. When London’s bells called the faithful to Sabbath prayer, they did not ring for the youngster.

Because of their religious faith, the persecuted Foes were excluded from public life. One line of work that promised unchained opportunities was commerce, as Britain’s global ambitions raced forward to the backdrop of the brave new London emerging from the rubble left behind by the Great Fire and the Great Plague. Daniel Foe was born and bred the son of a well-to-do candlemaker who seized these opportunities to branch out into overseas trade and become a successful player in the capital’s business community.

Daniel spent many happy hours in his youth with his uncle Henry at Aldgate in the east end of the city. Henry had done well as a saddler and was master of a large house with six hearths, flanked by warehouses.9 In the workshop filled with the smell of fresh leather, Foe listened wide-eyed to stories of his uncle’s merchant business, trading with the British colonies in America, which were starting to open up. Chatter about great profits across the ocean fired Daniel’s imagination. Like Robinson Crusoe, a “wandring disposition” began to grow inside that would inspire his career. It was no coincidence that Defoe’s writing was obsessed with isolated and marginal individuals who found a new identity, self-consciousness, and status. His words were the stuff of his own dreams.

James Foe, a serious and Puritanical man who disapproved of the scandalous happenings at court, pointless plays, gaming tables, public-dancing rooms, and music houses that flourished in fashionable London, worked day and night to set his son up for life. From a “tallowchandler,” Foe clawed his way to being a “generosus” gentleman by 1671.10 His son would have the education such position demanded.

From the age of sixteen, Daniel attended Charles Morton’s academy at Newington Green in north London, the next best option for the sons of prosperous Dissenters barred from Oxford and Cambridge.11 Even though teacher-priests like Morton walked on eggshells in fear of the thought police, Foe got a first-class education. Morton, a distinguished scholar and a former fellow of Oxford before the bad times, later emigrated to America, where anything was possible, and was appointed the first vice president of Harvard College.12

In his years at Morton’s academy from 1676–1680, a lingering anger against the ruling elite began to invade Daniel Foe’s soul. The teenager became defensive. Whatever he achieved, to much of England’s good and great, he would never belong. When Foe started making a name for himself in writing, critics took cheap shots by poking fun at his poor Latin grammar. The satirical journalist and political essay writer Jonathan Swift called Daniel “illiterate.” Foe quipped back he would rather be a man of the world than a “Learned Fool.” The chip on Daniel’s shoulder weighed heavily. He dreamt of becoming a hero, a saint, or the right-hand man of a great figure.

From these experiences, and Morton’s poorly stocked academy library, which left a lot to be desired—unlike at Oxford and Cambridge—Foe became a lover of libraries, a voracious reader of books and, later, a hungry buyer. Daniel shunned Puritan religious literature. Oliver Cromwell and the poet John Milton did not impress him. Foe’s heroes were the explorer Sir Francis Raleigh and Gustavus Adolphus the Great, the king of Sweden who transformed his nation into a European superpower.13 The youngster read deeply about travel and claimed to have studied every history published in English. Libraries would play a major role in the author’s secret future life.

If his father had his way, after training to be a priest, young Daniel would have gone into the clergy. A crisis of faith crushed those hopes. Momentous history inspired Foe to change direction. On holiday from the academy, Daniel felt the thrill of the cut and thrust of world currents with the Popish Plot, a fictitious scheme that alleged Jesuits were planning to murder King Charles II in 1678 and put his Catholic brother James on the throne.14 In 1681 King Charles II dissolved Parliament to try and exclude James from the Crown. For Daniel Foe, real-world adventure trumped the sleepy life of the clergy.

Foe started to toughen up and get streetwise. He took up boxing to defend himself. The writer who, first and foremost, would work as a trader that imported wine and brandy, began hanging out in taverns, developing a fine palate, and watching plays at the theater. What Daniel called “legions of strong lusts within” increased his feeling that the church was not his calling. Foe later described how in his sleep, “the Devil so haunted [him] with women, fine beautiful ladies in bed with him, and ladies of his acquaintance too, offering their favours to him” and “being a man of virtuous life and good morals, it was the greatest surprise to him imaginable.” Daniel never forgot these awakenings, “Fatall and Accurst Desyres, That burst from Thence with too Uncertain Fires.”15

A few weeks before his nineteenth birthday, and still studying at Morton’s academy, Daniel Foe seems to have given in to the hunger to wander. Without his father’s approval, and perhaps supported by a wealthy college friend, Daniel embarked on a footloose grand tour of Europe. As his writings later put it, “A gentleman ought always to see something of the world, before he confines himself to any particular part of it.”16

By the winter of 1679–1680, his three-year college education was over. A Dissenter and outsider who wanted to prove the world wrong, and too smart for his own good, Daniel Foe now had to carve out a living. As much as he played the superior brain of a detached, critical, and amused observer of society, he was all too aware that the Foes were no gentlemen. Daniel was inbred to hate “idolators who worship escutcheons and trophyes, and rate men by the blazonry of their houses,”17 especially since this was exactly what he secretly felt should be his true lot in life.

The embattled young man’s lingering, yet starstruck, resentment of the ruling elite followed him into the start of a glittering and unexpected career. But it would start with hard graft. Inevitably, like his father and uncle, Daniel Foe the dreamer was about to become a true-bred merchant. Adventures and danger would have to wait.






On the Pirate Account

After making the sea his home, Henry Avery went in search of adventure. Such was his love of danger that friends worried he had a death wish. His behavior was loose, bold, and wicked. In these early years, according to Avery’s own later memories, he was:


perfectly unfit to be trusted with liberty, for I was as ripe for any villainy as a young fellow that had no solid thought ever placed in his mind could be supposed to be. Education, as you have heard, I had none; and all the little scenes of life I had passed through had been full of dangers and desperate circumstances; but I was either so young or so stupid, that I escaped the grief and anxiety of them, for want of having a sense of their tendency and consequences.1



After working on the sixty-four-gun warship the Rupert and the ninety-gun Albemarle, and perhaps the Royal Navy’s Resolution and Edgar, Avery headed to the West Indies on HMS Nonsuch to guard English plantations from Spanish attacks.2 In the pirates’ lair of Port Royal, Jamaica, the angry young man’s head was turned by the wickedest city on earth. An impatient Avery jumped ship onto a buccaneering boat in “Quest of Plunder.”3 The Spanish gold and silver ingots he returned to port with convinced him to chance his hand on the account, to turn pirate.

A rare description of what Henry Avery looked like was written in these years. He was said to be “fat, and of a gay jolly Complexion,” extremely gifted at mathematics and the art of navigation. In his everyday life, he held “many principles of Morality.” Avery showed a “strong natural judgement” and “the art of gaining the Affection of the Mariners.” As for temperament, Henry was usually “daring and good humour’d, if not provok’d, but insolent, uneasy and unforgiving to the last Degree, if at any time impos’d upon.”4 Avery was not a man to cross.

And so a “wandring Life” began. In the Bay of Campeche in Mexico, Avery started plotting how to get his hands on a fine ship and command his own fortune. So far, he had strictly attacked Spanish shipping—foreigners. Never his fellow English or Dutch allies. All that changed when Avery took passage on an English ship that turned out to be “in the Service of the Devil.” Avery was forced to join their lot in a “War with all Mankind.”5

Home was a sixteen-gun pirate ship run by Captain Redhand, so-called for the blood his fists joyfully shed, and manned by “one hundred and sixty stout Fellows, as bold and as case-harden’d for the Work as ever I met with upon any Occasion whatever.”6 From Cuba to the Leeward Islands, Santo Domingo in the Dominican Republic, Florida and Brazil, the adventurers ate whatever came their way, whether penguins, seals, or goats, and shared in the spoils of prize after prize—rum, indigo, sugar, beef, beer, and cash. Avery cut his teeth on the pirate’s account for four years, took to raiding enthusiastically, and “in a little Time the Novelty of the Crime wore off, and we grew harden’d to it, like the rest.”7 Redhand liked and trusted Avery and asked his opinion in times of crisis.

Near Santo Domingo in the Dominican Republic, the pirates seized a Spanish prize with “65,000 Pieces of Eight in Silver, some Gold, and two Boxes of Pearl of a good Value.” Off the Juan Fernández Islands in Chile they took a trader to the “Value of 160000 Pieces of Eight in Gold… as good as any in the World: It was a glittering Sight, and enough to dazzle the Eyes of those that look’d on it.” Eventually, Redhand, the “barbarous Dog,” ran out of rope chasing two ships carrying the revenue of the kingdom of Chile and silver heading for Lima, Peru. In the skirmish that followed, a Spanish broadside blew off Redhand’s head. Avery, now appointed captain by the crew, reaped a cut of a windfall of “116 Chests of Pieces of Eight in Specie, 72 Bars of Silver, 15 Bags of wrought Plate,” supposed to be donated to the Blessed Virgin in a church, and “about 60000 Ounces of Gold, some in little Wedges, some in Dust.”8



In the late summer of 1693, four ships slipped into the bay of La Coruna. The journey was a thousand-mile sail across the English Channel and south to the coast of northern Spain. The sailors rubbernecking to get a first glimpse of the picture-perfect saucepan-shaped port city had mixed feelings. They had freely signed up for adventure, other than a sorry group of sick and wounded seamen press-ganged out of prison.9 La Coruna had been home to England’s mortal enemy, Spain, in so many wars. Now the two powers were on the same side in an adventure of a lifetime. The men knew the city would be just as resentful of their arrival as they felt in arriving. The distrust was mutual. The sooner the fleet could get their paperwork sorted out, turn about, and ship out to the Americas, the better.

Little about the Spanish Shipping Expedition and the scandals that engulfed it was normal. Getting the deal over the line—in the making since 1688—had been a political nightmare to test the greatest of minds. The scheme was the brainchild of Arturo O’Bruin, a Catholic “wild goose” Irishman forced to go into exile in Spain by his island’s furious Protestants. O’Bruin had no plans to go quietly, and by 1688 had clawed his way up the greasy pole to the position of lieutenant field marshal in Spain’s Atlantic fleet.10

Over the dinner table, Madrid’s power brokers had shared their pain at how many Spanish treasure ships ended up wrecked in local waters and off the Americas. If only they could salvage the loot, the royal coffers would overflow. The Spain of the late seventeenth century was a very different place to the early century. The golden age was over. For now, Britain and Spain shared a desperate goal to “destroy those permanent dens of thievery” in the Indies by cleaning the seas of buccaneers.11 The Spanish Shipping Expedition would tackle both conundrums.

Most of these thieves were English pirates who merrily sailed in and out of the British Isles without worrying about being collared for their crimes. Late in his reign, though, King Charles II confessed to the Spanish ambassador to England, Don Pedro Ronquillo Briceño, that Jamaica’s harboring of pirates was “a difficult contagion to cure.”12 After Charles’s death, King James II ordered his colonial governors to prosecute the pirates. Warrants and hot air made little difference. A heavily armed force was needed to rid the Americas of the menace. Who would pay for it, though?

Then inspiration struck. Ronquillo was captivated when William Phips returned to London in 1687 to a hero’s welcome after salvaging the Spanish galleon the Concepción off Hispaniola in the Dominican Republic. Gold fever swept the land as get-rich-quick schemers made deal after deal to harvest the seas. London speculators were “laughing their way to the bank,” Ronquillo wrote.13

If Madrid promised to give O’Bruin a split of any treasure salvaged from any Spanish wrecks, his investors could be persuaded to back for free a foreign squadron to take on the pirates and smugglers. Spain would not have to pay a piece of eight. The timing felt right. King William III had signed an alliance with Spain against Louis XIV of France and were now allies in the Nine Years’ War (1688–1697). “Galloping Francophobia” was the common enemy. The scheme planned “to pass into the Americas to dive on wrecks and arm a squadron of five ships as privateers to cleanse those seas of enemies, pirates, and illicit commerce, as well as to dislodge enemies from any of Your Majesty’s lands which they occupy.”14

O’Bruin, now promoted to an admiral, got his eight-year deal on October 30, 1690. The terms were reasonable enough: one third of all treasure salvaged would go to the king of Spain, plus all artillery from Spanish navy vessels discovered underwater, and one third from non-naval ones. Everyone’s salaries, including O’Bruin’s, were to be paid out of the expedition’s profits. Spain was after a free windfall.15

It was the small print that would eventually scupper the scheme and persuade Henry Avery to take extreme action. In May 1691 Admiral O’Bruin agreed in writing that two thirds of the one thousand men hired for service must be Spanish and the rest strictly Roman Catholic.16 O’Bruin kept this not-so-little detail under his hat and conveniently ignored it. The point would blow up in his face.

The unusual deal called for O’Bruin to assemble a fleet of five frigates out of his own pocket, the largest to be at least 600 tons, armed with over 50 guns, and manned by 250 sailors and 100 soldiers. To sweeten the pill, the king of Spain’s take was later diluted from one third to one fifth of any recoveries. But where the admiral could raise the funds got even tougher: investors had to be “Spaniards or vassals of His Majesty or married Irishmen residing in Castile.”17 The terms were mission impossible.

Still, desperate to make the deal, O’Bruin signed on the dotted lines and swiftly ignored his pledge. To improve his chances of success, O’Bruin hired John Strong in 1692, the diving expert who made Phips’s wreck salvage a runaway success. Next, he caught the ear of a powerful merchant and founding director of the Bank of England, Sir James Houblon. With the £40,000 backing of Sir James and other considerable merchants of the City of London,18 the admiral was able finally to hire crews to man the fifty-gun Charles II, the forty-four-gun Santiago (James), the twenty-four-gun Espiritu Santo (Dove), and the Seventh Son as a small scout ship. His flagship would be the Nuestra Señora de la Concepción, armed with fifty-four cannon. After successfully testing Strong’s diving equipment in the River Thames, O’Bruin’s fleet prepared to sail from England in the late summer of 1693.19

When the fleet left for La Coruna, Henry Avery sniffed the opportunity of treasure and signed up as chief mate of the Dove. He was told the crew needed to stop briefly in northern Spain to pick up passes and instructions for the Americas before a quick turnaround. Only none arrived. The weeks passed. The sailors were poorly fed, fearful of going ashore or mixing with the pestering beggars and bare-legged girls mocking the foreigners. The crew spent an unhealthy amount of time belowdecks, crammed in its airless and foul-smelling wooden walls.

La Coruna had its own uneasy reputation among English mariners as the port where the invincible armada left to invade the British Isles in 1588 with 131 ships and over 25,000 sailors, soldiers, and officers.20 As a Plymouth man who spent his childhood in the town where Sir Francis Drake prepared to engage the armada in battle, Henry Avery had no love for La Coruna or its people.

After eight months at sea and in port, and no sign of the six months’ pay owed, the men were on edge. When a few of the crew demanded what they were rightfully owed, they were thrown in jail. King Charles II of Spain may “pay them or hang them if he please,” the agitators were told. The Spanish treated the English crews like “contrabandists,” “smugglers,” and “pirates.”21

Avery smelled a rat. He was not alone. A fault line had developed between Irish Catholic and English Protestants. One Popish crew member ranted openly that King William III of England was a criminal. “God damn the King, fuck him to the pit of Hell,” he slurred over too much beer. The Protestants, on their side of the deck, moaned about “infestive false hearted Spaniards.”22

After gathering a bit of intelligence and keeping his ear to the ground, the scales dropped from Avery’s eyes. The expedition was a giant deception, he learned too late. In the law courts, a sea captain from Andalusia with a local dive-salvaging contract, Antonio Verde, was blocking O’Bruin from working the wealthy wrecks off Cadiz. And the dream of West Indies treasure was over. The fleet, it turned out, was not just carrying dive equipment. Houblon had hedged his bet on the expedition by filling the holds with secret cargo. To make a profit, all the banker needed was to make sure the goods were sold in Cadiz.23 The rest, if pulled off, would be a bonus.

Then Henry Avery heard a disturbing piece of news that changed his life forever. The fleet was being readied to sail from La Coruna to Cadiz to sell the hidden merchandise and cut its losses. Before then, all the Protestants in the fleet would be fired. Spain had uncovered O’Bruin’s treachery in the lack of Catholic sailors making up the promised crew. Spanish authorities urgently started recruiting locals to replace the English Protestants. Spanish naval officers were readied to board the fleet and “punish all of the criminals aboard.” Madrid withdrew the admiral’s license to salvage and privateer in the Spanish West Indies.24 The game was up. Disbelief and shock turned to rage.

Forget the promise of Americas’ treasure, no one was going to abandon Avery on a hostile shore without paying him what was rightfully his. Henry Avery had been watching and waiting all his life for a chance like this. For years he had plotted “how I should dismiss myself from that Drudgery, and get to be, first or last, Master of a good Ship, which was the utmost of my Ambition at that Time; resolving, in the mean Time, that when ever any such Thing should happen, I would try my Fortune in the Cruising Trade.”25 The moment had come. Reasoning was pointless. It was time for violence.

The Charles II was a stout frigate of fifty guns, and sailed extraordinary ably. On Sunday, May 6, 1694, Henry Avery started a whispering campaign among trusted men in the fleet crew and prepared his coup. He “went from ship to ship and persuaded the men to come on board him.” If they would help him man the Charles II, “he would carry them where they should get money enough.” By now, the seething British and Dutch sailors were “ripe for his Design.”26 At 10:00 P.M. on the night of May 7, Avery swung into action.27 The mutiny passed smoothly thanks to the captain’s weakness for strong booze. “It must be observ’d, the Captain was one of those who are mightily addicted to Punch,” Captain Charles Johnson wrote in A General History of the Pyrates:


So that he passed most of his Time on Shore, in some little drinking Ordinary; but this Day he did not go on Shore as usual; however, this did not spoil the Design, for he took his usual Dose on Board, and so got to Bed before the Hour appointed for the Business: The Men also who were not privy to the Design, turn’d into their Hammocks, leaving none upon Deck but the Conspirators, who, indeed, were the greatest Part of the Ship’s Crew. At the Time agreed on, the Dutchess’s Long-Boat appear’d, which Avery hailing in the usual Manner, was answered by the Men in her, Is your drunken Boatswain on Board? Which was the Watch-Word agreed between them, and Avery replying in the Affirmative, the Boat came aboard with sixteen stout Fellows, and joined the Company.28



Avery’s coconspirators bolted the Charles II’s hatches leading belowdecks, cut the cables, loosened the sails, calmly weighed anchor, “and so put to Sea without any Disorder or Confusion.” Gunshot from the Spanish fort missed its mark.29

Once out to sea, Captain Charles Gibson, now very ill with a fever from excess drinking, and “half asleep, and in a kind of Fright,” was awoken from bed. Avery instructed Captain Gibson to get changed, so he could let him in on a secret. “You must know, that I am Captain of this Ship now, and this is my Cabin,” Henry merrily informed the deposed commander, “therefore you must walk out; I am bound to Madagascar, with a Design of making my own Fortune, and that of all the brave Fellows joined with me.” “I am a Man of Fortune and must seek my Fortune,” Avery ended, before asking if the captain cared to join his fanciful scheme.30 Gibson and sixteen other men declined and were put over the side on the ship’s boat, with a bucket to bail out its leaking bottom.31

Two years later, when justice caught up with some of the mutineers, they were accused of piracy because they:


Feloniously and Pyratically did steal, take and carry away from the said Charles Gibson, the said Ship, called, The Charles the Second, her Tackle, Apparel and Furniture, of the Value of One thousand Pounds, Forty Peices of Ordnance of the Value of Five Hundred Pounds; One Hundred Fusees, of the Value of One Hundred Pounds; Fifteen Tun of Bread, of the Value of One Hundred and Fifty Pounds; and two Hundred pair of Woollen Stockings, of the Value of Ten Pounds, in the possession of the said Charles Gibson then being; the Ship, Goods, and Chattels, of the subjects of our said Sovereign Lord the King, and the Late Queen.32



The crew of Henry Avery, the pirate king, were never going to get a fair hearing. Sir James Houblon was one of the most powerful men in England. How Houblon and O’Bruin’s greed were ready to leave Avery and many of the men of the Spanish expedition without pay and jobs on the dock of a hostile foreign port was brushed under the carpet.

Avery and his fellow abused Protestants had not turned pirate—so far. The eighty mutineers of La Coruna jumped ship not because they were ruthless buccaneers and murderers but for self-preservation, to protect their safety and promised income. Avery seized the Charles II in revenge for conduct unbecoming against him. The ship was theirs instead of salaries owed and to punish Sir James, Admiral O’Bruin, and Spain for unjust treatment.

Only when the frigate had passed the Roman Tower of Hercules on the promontory of La Coruna, the oldest lighthouse in the world, and left behind the fields of maize and vineyards, did Avery share his ambitions with his merry men, far out to sea. It did not take long for them to be immortalized in ballads sung from tavern to tavern across England.


Come all you brave boys whose courage is bold

Will you venture with me? I’ll glut you with gold.

Make haste unto Corunna; a ship you will find

That’s called the Fancy, will pleasure your mind.33



The Charles II was renamed the Fancy. The legend of the pirate king was born.
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